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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: And we are going

          3  to start the hearing while we wait for more of our

          4  colleagues to arrive. Once they arrive, I will

          5  probably stop the testimony so we can do a vote.

          6  We've been joined by Latitia James from Brooklyn who

          7  is on the Parks Committee, and we're very happy to

          8  have you, Tish. Joe Addabbo, the only, the only;

          9  Chima, the Analyst and Tom Curry, Attorney for the

         10  Committee. I was going to make it up.

         11                 We are going to actually vote on

         12  Resolution 512, which has to do with the planting of

         13  trees in low-income, as well as communities that are

         14  very high in asthma. What you have seen throughout

         15  this year, we've seen that in Hunts Point and in

         16  different areas, in the Bronx in particular, but all

         17  over New York City where the urban areas that the

         18  asthma rate is extremely high. It has been shown

         19  that trees can help alleviate some of that. I look

         20  forward to the testimony. I, with Tom and others,

         21  have done research about this. Just knowing from my

         22  own neighborhood that there are plenty of tree pits

         23  available for trees that currently don't have trees

         24  and it is also an area that is high in asthma. So, I

         25  look forward to the testimony.
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          2                 We have a few people signed up to

          3  testify, as well as some written statements. Why

          4  don't we jump right into it. We have Fiona Watt,

          5  Chief of Forestry and Horticulture, and, of course,

          6  Liam Kavanagh, the First Deputy Commissioner. Thank

          7  you.

          8                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          9  Good afternoon, Chairwoman Foster and members of the

         10  Committee. With me today is Chief of Forestry and

         11  Horticulture, Fiona Watt and Mora Haggerty

         12  (phonetic) our Deputy Director of Intergovernmental

         13  Relations. On behalf of Commissioner Benepe, I

         14  pleased to be here today to discuss the importance

         15  of trees to our urban environment. New York City's

         16  urban forest comprises over five million trees on

         17  public and private property. Parks and Recreation is

         18  the steward of half of these trees; those growing

         19  along streets, in parks and natural areas and along

         20  parkways and expressways across the City.

         21                 Our trees are valuable, in ways that

         22  we can measure and ways that we cannot. They produce

         23  shade, cool the air, reduce heating and cooling

         24  costs. They absorb gaseous air pollutants and

         25  cleanse our air of particulate pollutants. They
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          2  beautify our neighborhoods and open spaces, increase

          3  property values. They provide food and habitat for

          4  urban wild life. Tree roots stabilize the soil

          5  preventing erosion and reducing storm water runoff.

          6  They provide a calming effect bringing a sense of

          7  peace and natural order to our busy, crowded City.

          8                 Federal researchers have calculated

          9  the replacement value of New York City's urban

         10  forest to be $5.2 billion. We are here today to talk

         11  about the important and increasingly recognized role

         12  of trees in providing health benefits to the City's

         13  residents. Because trees reduce concentrations of

         14  air pollution in urban environments, they help those

         15  who suffer from asthma and other respiratory

         16  illnesses. In New York City as elsewhere, those who

         17  are most afflicted by asthma are our children and

         18  the elderly.

         19                 Trees and other green space are now

         20  being studied as a link to reducing obesity rates in

         21  urban areas. Studies have shown that people who live

         22  along tree lined streets and near parks, walk

         23  significantly more during the course of their day

         24  than those who do not. Those do not experience

         25  similar proximity to urban greener. A study
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          2  conducted in Tokyo in 2002, found that walkable

          3  green spaces and a positive attitude towards a

          4  person's community contributed directly toward

          5  longevity among seniors living in heavily urbanized

          6  areas. There was a report on the news this morning,

          7  in fact, that seem to reinforce that, that walking

          8  among senior citizens had a direct link to

          9  longevity.

         10                 Maintaining and increasing our urban

         11  tree canopy is the surest way to benefit the health

         12  of all our citizens. Yet trees in our City are at

         13  risk. They suffer from drought, poor soil, excessive

         14  heat, air pollution, insects and disease and an

         15  array of conflicts with infrastructure and human

         16  activities such as construction, vehicles and

         17  vandalism. The Asian Longhorned Beetle, an invasive

         18  pest from China, threatens almost half of the trees

         19  in New York City and has already destroyed almost

         20  4,000 trees here since its discovery in 1996.

         21                 Given the incalculable benefits of

         22  trees to our City, it is important that we protect

         23  and increase our urban forest. Our actions today

         24  will help sustain the health and welfare of New

         25  Yorkers tomorrow. Today, we would like to give you
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          2  an overview of how Parks and Recreation is building

          3  a greener and healthier City. Fiona Watt, Parks

          4  Chief of Forestry and Horticulture will discuss how

          5  we protect and develop our urban forest through new

          6  tree planting, vigorous tree maintenance and

          7  community education and outreach.

          8                 MS. WATT: Thank you, Commissioner.

          9  Urban forests are a significant national resource

         10  and the public health benefits of trees are

         11  numerous. Trees filter air pollution, improve air

         12  quality, reduce respiratory and other health

         13  problems, reduce green gas house emissions, mitigate

         14  extreme temperatures and of course, provide

         15  aesthetic beauty and shade.

         16                 Ground level ozone and particulate

         17  matter are both known to trigger asthma attacks and

         18  other respiratory problems in children. Trees impact

         19  both the formation of ozone as well as the

         20  concentration of air- borne particulate pollution.

         21  Particulate pollution is removed from the atmosphere

         22  by leaf surfaces. One study conducted by the USDA

         23  Forest Service indicated that leaves may, either

         24  through physical or chemical processes, remove up to

         25  11 percent of concentrated air pollution over a one-
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          2  hour period. Leaf surfaces also remove ozone,

          3  nitrogen dioxide, sulfur dioxide and carbon monoxide

          4  from the atmosphere. Trees with greater leaf surface

          5  area, that's larger trees, larger leaves, such as

          6  evergreens, larger trees and more contiguous

          7  canopies remove pollution at more rapid rates. If

          8  you just take a look at the trees in public health

          9  map showing our capacity to plant more trees in the

         10  City and the benefits of trees to public health.

         11                 Parks is committed to expanding our

         12  urban force to capitalize on the significant

         13  environmental and health benefits trees provide.

         14  Each year, with funding from the Mayor, the City

         15  Council, and the Borough Presidents, we plant trees

         16  across the City during the spring and the fall.

         17  Parks plants trees by request, in every borough and

         18  in every community. You can request a tree through

         19  your local community board or by calling 311.

         20                 The City's environmental is

         21  relatively inhospitable to trees. Tall buildings

         22  block light; underground utilities leave little room

         23  for root growth; pedestrians, animals and cars

         24  compact the soil bed; vandalism damages tree trunks

         25  and branches; cars and trucks often damage or
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          2  destroy trees; and the vast concrete landscape

          3  disrupts natural groundwater flow, drainage and

          4  sedimentation. For these reasons, it is important

          5  that we plant trees that can withstand the damage

          6  both by the forces of nature and at the hands of

          7  humans. The most common type of street trees in New

          8  York City include Norway Maples, London Plane Trees,

          9  Pin Oaks, Honey Locusts, Lindens and Green Ash.

         10                 In previous years, Parks has planted

         11  over 10,000 trees over the course of each year. Due

         12  to budget cuts, we planted just over 5,000 trees

         13  last year in fiscal '04. Yet based on a survey, we

         14  believe there is space for over 200,000 additional

         15  street trees in New York City. The map that you see

         16  now is the map of our tree planting programs since

         17  1999 showing the density of trees and the census

         18  tracks in which we have planted trees in those

         19  years. Of course, every single census track has

         20  received some trees.

         21                 We are committed to increasing the

         22  number of trees we plant each year especially in

         23  communities with high rates of asthma. Parks also

         24  plants trees in landscape parks and natural areas.

         25  In fiscal year 2004, we planted over 7,000 trees as
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          2  part of capital projects or through permits issues

          3  to the public or other agencies. Our Natural

          4  Resources Group has planted over 8,000 trees and

          5  shrubs in natural areas this year as part of the

          6  forest restoration program.

          7                 The sustainable growth of the urban

          8  forest has just as much to do with tree maintenance

          9  as with new tree planting. We must help every tree

         10  live long enough to provide the benefits including

         11  air pollution reduction and cooling that larger,

         12  mature trees confer. Research shows that large trees

         13  remove considerably more pollution than smaller

         14  ones. A healthy tree with a trunk diameter of 30

         15  inches, that's a very big tree, removes about 70

         16  times more pollution than a tree with a three inch

         17  trunk; which is the size of our typically newly

         18  planted street tree.

         19                 In fact, a federal study measured the

         20  many tons of air pollution that New York City trees

         21  remove each year and valued this service at $9.5

         22  million a year. An important component of caring for

         23  trees is routine pruning. In an urban environment,

         24  tree pruning is necessary to remove dead branches,

         25  to remove crowded or rubbing limbs and to eliminate
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          2  hazards. Trees may also be pruned to increase light

          3  and air penetration to the inside of the tree's

          4  crown, improving the tree's health.

          5                 Since 1997, Parks has embarked on a

          6  program of block- by- block maintenance for street

          7  trees, allowing us to prune each City tree once

          8  every ten years in a systematic and economically,

          9  efficient pruning cycle. This block- by- block tree

         10  pruning program is essential to the health of our

         11  urban forest. We are currently in year seven of the

         12  block pruning cycle. Of the 351,000 some odd trees

         13  that are pruning eligible (meaning they're large

         14  enough to be pruned under this program), we have

         15  pruned almost 280,000 or just about 80 percent of

         16  the trees since the beginning of the program. A

         17  shorter pruning cycle ultimately results in a

         18  healthier urban forest.

         19                 Parks is working to making it easier

         20  for citizens to report tree problems and to help

         21  keep our urban forest healthy. In the next few

         22  months, you will be able to call 311, 24 hours a

         23  day, to request dead tree removal and report tree

         24  emergencies or to request other forestry services.

         25  One of the most important aspects of tree
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          2  maintenance is protecting our forest from pests,

          3  particularly the Asian Longhorn Beetle, which you

          4  all have heard about. First discovered in this

          5  country in 1996 in Brooklyn and Long Island, the

          6  beetle has subsequently been found in Chicago,

          7  Illinois; New Jersey and Toronto, Canada. You all

          8  have an Asian Longhorn Beetle infestation map in

          9  your packets.

         10                 This August, over 400 trees were

         11  found infested in Woodbridge, New Jersey. That is

         12  just west of Staten Island. This infestation was

         13  discovered by an alert citizen in the neighboring

         14  borough of Carteret who saw a beetle at the base of

         15  a Silver Maple tree in his backyard. Most recently

         16  in New York City, a private contractor found two

         17  heavily infested trees in backyards on East 64

         18  Street in Manhattan. These are disturbing new

         19  developments as the beetle had not been seen in New

         20  Jersey or in Manhattan since 2002. Infestations were

         21  also recently detected in Long Island City, Bedford

         22  Styuvesant and Prospect Heights in Brooklyn.

         23                 As you have heard us testify at

         24  previous hearings, early detection of infestations

         25  and rapid treatment are crucial to the successful
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          2  eradication of the Asian Longhorn Beetle.

          3  Unfortunately, survey contracts and treatment have

          4  stalled due the lack of federal funding. The USDA

          5  had requested only $9 million for the National AOB

          6  Program in fiscal 2005, compared to over $30 million

          7  in funding in fiscal 2004. This severe reduction in

          8  federal funding risks dealing a mortal blow to the

          9  beetle eradication program. Left undetected,

         10  infested trees will nurture new generations of

         11  beetle and the infestation will continue to spread.

         12  In fact, 47 percent of all the trees in New York

         13  City are at risk for the Asian Longhorn Beetle. They

         14  are the types of trees that the beetle like to feed

         15  on.

         16                 While the State and Federal agencies

         17  are supervising the survey and treatment of infested

         18  trees, we, Parks, play an important role

         19  coordinating the removal and disposal of trees on

         20  public land. As you know, all wood from within the

         21  quarantine zone must be treated as a possible host

         22  to the beetle. Consequently, Parks chips all host

         23  species wood it removes from public property within

         24  this zone. Unfortunately, wood on private property

         25  was often being improperly disposed. But thanks to
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          2  the Mayor, in the next few months we will begin a

          3  program to help private home owners within the

          4  quarantine zone dispose of wood properly. This is a

          5  brochure that we will be sending to hundreds of

          6  thousands of residents of Manhattan, Brooklyn and

          7  Queens; everybody who lives within the quarantine

          8  zone and within those boroughs about how to dispose

          9  of their wood properly.

         10                 The funding for this program will

         11  help us prevent the beetle from spreading to

         12  uninfested areas. But it does not replace the

         13  federal money that New York City needs to fight this

         14  invasive pest which is needed for survey and for

         15  treatment. Given the incalculable benefits of trees

         16  to the health and welfare of New York City, Parks is

         17  committed to planting new non- host species trees to

         18  replace those trees lost to the beetle and in

         19  neighborhoods throughout the five boroughs.

         20                 We are also playing an important role

         21  in educating the public about the relationship

         22  between the City's trees and the City's health. We

         23  recently completed a community forestry management

         24  plan for Hunts Point in the Bronx, in partnership

         25  with Greening for Breathing and the New York State
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          2  Department of Environmental Conservation, Parks and

          3  Recreation developed a vision of a greener Hunts

          4  Point, that can lead to a significant reduction in

          5  the high rates of asthma plaguing this community.

          6                 During the mid- 1990's, community

          7  members in Hunts Point became increasingly concerned

          8  about the rising rates of asthma among Hunts Point

          9  children. Local rates of asthma related

         10  hospitalizations are unusually high there for New

         11  York City and, in fact, are among the highest

         12  nationwide. While the exact cause of the rise is not

         13  known, the increased concentration of polluting

         14  facilities and the growth of industry activity in

         15  and around the community are a possible explanation.

         16  It is also believed that the absence of an

         17  established urban forest cover in Hunts Point plays

         18  an important role in its alarming asthma rates. The

         19  Hunts Point Community Forestry Management Plan was a

         20  direct response to this rise in asthma. While the

         21  plan touches on all aspects of greening in the

         22  community, it primarily focuses on the trees growing

         23  along the trees and in the public right- of- way.

         24                 Together, we surveyed every existing

         25  street tree, identified potential planting
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          2  locations, established greening goals and strategize

          3  ways of reaching these goals. This pilot project

          4  establishes a model plan for communities working in

          5  partnerships with Parks to take an active role in

          6  managing their urban forest. This plan serves as a

          7  practical guide for future activities and fund

          8  raising efforts. Parks and Recreation hopes to

          9  conduct other community forestry management plans

         10  with funding from an AmeriCorps grant.

         11                 This grant will fund 40 members of

         12  what we like to call the Green Apple Corps. We plan

         13  to use the Green Apple Corps to develop community

         14  forestry plans for neighborhoods across the City

         15  that are also plagued by high asthma rates. Working

         16  together, we can increase the number of trees,

         17  improve the survival rate and health of young trees,

         18  and increase community awareness of the relationship

         19  between trees and air quality and public health. We

         20  are also working on developing forestry management

         21  plans for landscape parks. The New York Tree Trust,

         22  a program of Parks and Recreation is in the final

         23  stages of a pilot urban forest management program

         24  for three diverse parks that are very important to

         25  their communities; Crotona Park in the Bronx; Fort
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          2  Greene Park in Brooklyn; and St. Nicholas Park in

          3  Manhattan.

          4                 We used geographic positioning

          5  systems to identify the locations of all park trees

          6  and inventory tree and environmental

          7  characteristics. After analyzing the data and

          8  mapping it, we are working with district staff and

          9  local communities to develop comprehensive

         10  management plans in these parks. These plans

         11  tailored to reflect each parks unique

         12  characteristics will include detailed maps and

         13  recommendations for maintenance, planting,

         14  educational programs and avenues for community

         15  involvement.

         16                 To some, given the significant

         17  benefits of trees, we must protect and expand our

         18  urban forest. I know that the Council understands

         19  the value of trees and we appreciate your continued

         20  support. Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you. I just

         22  have a few questions. How much does it cost per

         23  tree?

         24                 MS. WATT: Our current tree planting

         25  this fall, it will cost, the average price City-
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          2  wide for a new tree pit is $1,163.00.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: For a new tree

          4  pit?

          5                 MS. WATT: Right. Where you have to

          6  cut the sidewalk and put a tree.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Right. If just

          8  the tree itself, if there is an existing pit, how

          9  much is the tree itself?

         10                 MS. WATT: A few hundred dollars less

         11  than that. The tree itself is purchased as part of

         12  the labor and transport. If you went to a nursery

         13  and bought a tree, it could be anywhere from $250 to

         14  $300 or more depending on its size.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: I'm assuming that

         16  we get like a bulk rate for purchasing a lot of

         17  trees?

         18                 MS. WATT: Well, our contracts are bid

         19  through the low- bid process.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Okay. How many

         21  trees did the Department plant in fiscal '03 and

         22   '04?

         23                 MS. WATT: We planted over 10,000

         24  trees in fiscal '04. In fiscal '03, -- sorry, just

         25  about 5,000 in fiscal '04. That was our low year.

                                                            19

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  And in fiscal '03, it was 10,645.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Do you have a

          4  break down percentage wise where those trees were

          5  planted?

          6                 MS. WATT: We could certainly get that

          7  information for you. We have it all mapped. Embedded

          8  in the map is where we would get that data for you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Could you? That

         10  would be helpful. You mentioned in the testimony the

         11  two ways of getting a tree planted, either through

         12  the community board and now through 311. Does the

         13  Department proactively go around and look for

         14  locations for trees?

         15                 MS. WATT: Probably 80 to 85 percent

         16  of our tree planting is done by request. It is a

         17  customer service program that the City offers the

         18  tax payers. But there always is a smaller portion of

         19  our planting program that works with communities who

         20  have contacted us to do more neighborhood greening

         21  initiatives. We're often not the people who are

         22  pounding the pavement to find the sites. But we will

         23  work school groups, girl scouts, boy scouts, block

         24  associations and we'll often contact property owners

         25  and say, would you mind, if we planted a tree here.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Excuse me. We've

          3  been joined by Council Member Robert Jackson. If a

          4  community person called the Department of Parks and

          5  says, hey, I live on this street. I'm interested in

          6  trees. Then that request would be granted and they

          7  wouldn't be re- rooted through the community board?

          8                 MS. WATT: The way the system is set

          9  up, most of our requests come through the community

         10  board. But we certainly don't turn people away who

         11  we interact with by telephone or by meeting on the

         12  street or by letters.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Based upon the

         14  information that we now know from the Department of

         15  Health and the asthma rates, is the Department

         16  looking at those locations where asthma rates are

         17  high as areas to focus on for trees outside the

         18  grant that was received for the Hunts Point area?

         19  Because Hunts Point is not the only area where you

         20  see a high rate of asthma.

         21                 MS. WATT: It's something that we've

         22  started to do and we have this AmeriCorps grant, the

         23  federal grant program, and we're going to target ten

         24  neighborhoods, two in each borough, additional to

         25  the Hunts Point study, to do management plans along
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          2  the models of the Hunts Point study.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Has a date or

          4  time been determined by the Department when they'll

          5  do another survey of the trees and the status of the

          6  trees?

          7                 MS. WATT: Well, the federal

          8  government does its census every ten years. Our

          9  census was begun in 1995 and concluded in the fall

         10  of 1996. We're absolutely looking ahead at this

         11  following summer and the next summer to conduct

         12  another census within our ten- year framework.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Is it easier for,

         14  like if you have a tree pit already there, is the

         15  process easier to get the tree planted then having

         16  to get the permit and then cut into the sidewalk for

         17  the pit?

         18                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         19  If you were planting the tree at your own expense,

         20  yes. You would not have to get a permit to cut the

         21  sidewalk. If you were going through the Parks

         22  Department, we're planting the tree, it doesn't make

         23  a difference.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Okay. What I'm

         25  asking and I don't know maybe it's not coming out
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          2  clear. There are a number of tree pits that no

          3  longer have trees in them. Is it just as simple to

          4  put a tree in that pit as if you needed to -- I

          5  could say to you, here Deputy Commissioner, here is

          6  list of pits that once had trees and you could price

          7  or do whatever you need to do for just the tree

          8  aspect and that goes back to my question of why I

          9  asked about the tree as opposed to the pit.

         10                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         11  It is easier and cheaper to plant a tree in an

         12  existing tree pit. We still would like to have the

         13  permission of the adjoining property owner. Because,

         14  in fact, they're going to have to look out for the

         15  tree if it's going to survive. That's the real

         16  importance of it. But the expense still as Fiona

         17  mentioned before, includes the cost of buying the

         18  tree, transporting it to the site, the labor for

         19  installing the tree. We do have a two- year

         20  maintenance requirement or a two- year guarantee

         21  period on our trees now, which is twice as long as

         22  it used to be. It used to be only year. So the

         23  contractor is responsible for replacing the tree if

         24  it dies of natural causes over that two year period.

         25  It's a much better value for the City in the long
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          2  run.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Lastly, you

          4  mentioned that each City tree is pruned or surveyed,

          5  I don't know which one you said, every ten years?

          6                 MS. WATT: Would you like me to

          7  elaborate?

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Right. Is that

          9  sufficient or is that the practice in the industry

         10  that you evaluate a tree every ten years?

         11                 MS. WATT: Current industry standards

         12  vary, but usually fall between five and seven years

         13  for a pruning rotation. Our funding has varied

         14  somewhat over the last eight years. Some years we've

         15  achieved seven year pruning cycle. And some year's,

         16  it's been more like ten. But it averages out. Ten or

         17  11, it averages out to nine or ten years at this

         18  point. At this stage in the game.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: If you had your

         20  way, like if you could do things like you wanted and

         21  money everything, would it be ten years or you would

         22  do the five to seven which is the average in the

         23  industry?

         24                 MS. WATT: I'd say it just like

         25  anything, we do as much as we can. We've pruned

                                                            24

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  almost 80 percent of the 350,000 pruning eligible

          3  trees which is more than has every been pruned in

          4  that time frame in the history of the City for sure.

          5  But sure, we'll prune as much as we can.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: And last for

          7  real, moving forward with the trees and the planting

          8  of trees and I know I asked this, but I just want to

          9  asked it again. Moving forward with the planting of

         10  trees, the Department will be looking to those areas

         11  identified by the Department of Health that have

         12  high asthma rates and not a lot of trees?

         13                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         14  Yes, those are exactly the criteria we will use to

         15  choose the communities that will be included in the

         16  next phase of our urban tree management program.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

         18  Council Member Addabbo.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you,

         20  Madam Chair, and thank you for having the hearing

         21  today proving that it doesn't have to be Arbor Day

         22  or Earth Day to care about trees. I appreciate the

         23  hearing. To Commissioner Kavanagh and all those from

         24  Parks Department, thanks again for being here, for

         25  your time and testimony and all the work that you do
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          2  with what you have. My line of questioning is two-

          3  fold. One with the planting of the trees and

          4  secondly with the pruning of trees. First, with the

          5  planting. You alluded to what kind of trees are

          6  planted and some may be better than others in a

          7  given geographical area. Who determines what kind of

          8  tree gets planted?

          9                 MS. WATT: I have eight foresters on

         10  staff who select the species of tree after they have

         11  surveyed the site and made the decision based on

         12  site characteristics, the surrounding canopy cover,

         13  whether they're in the Asian Longhorn Beetle

         14  quarantine zone, things like that.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: So a forester

         16  goes out, looks at a certain geographic area and

         17  then determines what kind of tree. Some of my

         18  questioning may be in line with my particular

         19  district or the borough of Queens, since it has a

         20  number of trees in Queens.

         21                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         22  I've heard.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: My concern is

         24  that we have tree lined streets residential that

         25  have low lying wires, utility wires. Some trees

                                                            26

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  maybe better suited than others. In just my

          3  experience, the London Plane Trees, I find are

          4  actually quite good because their branches sort of

          5  spread out allowing the utility wires to get in

          6  while the Maple because their leaf may be a little

          7  larger and the branches may be a little bit more

          8  dense, we have to call in the utility companies more

          9  often than not to clear out the wires. Do you find

         10  that's been your experience as well? That these kind

         11  of trees, again, they look at what kind of tree and

         12  how it grows in determining what kind of residential

         13  street trees should be planted?

         14                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         15  Yes. That is one of the things that we consider when

         16  we chose a species for those kind of conditions. In

         17  fact, trees and utility wires are not a good

         18  combination. We try to choose trees now that won't

         19  grow to the size and proportion that require

         20  frequent pruning to accommodate the utility lines.

         21  Do you have anything to add?

         22                 MS. WATT: Well, just that 50 percent

         23  of trees in Queens are under utility lines and it is

         24  a perennial conflict and how much canopy cover you

         25  can achieve going with the smaller trees. Certainly
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          2  in the past, people weren't as aware of planting

          3  smaller trees and you have the legacy of those

          4  planting decisions with a frequent pruning

          5  requirements now. But there certainly are trees that

          6  can achieve some level of canopy cover and still

          7  co-exist with the utility wires.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: It is a

          9  difficult balance between the utility lines and

         10  obviously the kind of trees. I appreciate the Parks

         11  Department efforts in really looking at the

         12  situation. We have had a severe issue with regards

         13  to larger trees encompassing these low- lying

         14  utility wires. I have a major issue and I'd like to

         15  raise it today about utility companies and how they

         16  prune the trees, in clearing the way for these

         17  wires. I find that they are less caring than our

         18  Parks personnel in how they prune a tree and how it

         19  looks after the utility companies get through with

         20  it. I raise that issue just if that the Parks

         21  Department can make a note and I don't know, what

         22  kind of contractual relations they have with the

         23  utility companies. But these utility companies are

         24  pruning Parks trees throughout the City and not

         25  giving much care to really how they're pruning. Just
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          2  basically pruning it like a V and it looks horrible.

          3  I just make that as a note.

          4                 I do know that we need to do a vote.

          5  So I'm going to defer my questions until we do the

          6  vote.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you. We

          8  have a quorum and we're going to vote on Resolution

          9  512.

         10                 COUNCIL CLERK: Foster.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Aye.

         12                 COUNCIL CLERK: Addabbo.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Aye.

         14                 COUNCIL CLERK: Jackson.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Aye.

         16                 COUNCIL CLERK: Serrano.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER SERRANO: Aye.

         18                 COUNCIL CLERK: James.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Aye.

         20                 COUNCIL CLERK: By a vote of five in

         21  the affirmative, zero in the negative and no

         22  abstentions, the item is adopted. Council Members,

         23  please sign the Committee Report. Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: And if you could

         25  leave the vote open.
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          2                 COUNCIL CLERK: Council Member

          3  Gallagher.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: I abstain.

          5                 COUNCIL CLERK: The vote stands at

          6  five in the affirmative, zero in the negative and

          7  one abstention.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Madam Chair,

         10  thank you. To move on to pruning, and again, aside

         11  from the utility companies pruning, the contractors

         12  hired by the Parks Department to actually prune, I

         13  understand locally in Queens that there may be

         14  either a stoppage or a, I guess, some type of

         15  interference with the contractors getting out and

         16  pruning due to a contractual situation. Can you

         17  elaborate on that or shed some light on that

         18  situation?

         19                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         20  We did have a brief period where the contractors did

         21  stop. We think we resolved it, however. It had to

         22  with whether or not these contracts were subject to

         23  the prevailing wage requirements, Section 220 of the

         24  Labor Law. We did not think they were applied and

         25  the comptroller seems to agree with us. And we
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          2  expect them to be back to work very shortly.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: I am pleased

          4  to hear that and I will rely that information to my

          5  staff who has fielded many frustrated calls from my

          6  constituents. Now that we have somewhat of a back

          7  log of tree pruning requests to be done due to the

          8  slight work stoppage, what kind of priority will now

          9  be taken into effect on which trees get pruned now

         10  that there is a slight back- up?

         11                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH: I

         12  don't think it's going to affect the overall

         13  program. Our program is designed to prune a certain

         14  number of trees over the course of an entire fiscal

         15  year. The stoppage while it was unfortunate, won't

         16  prevent us from spending all the money we have

         17  allocated for the program. All the trees we plan to

         18  prune this fiscal year will be pruned under the

         19  pruning contracts.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: I appreciate

         21  that, Commissioner. And lastly, as far as funding

         22  for trees, is there any private funding for trees if

         23  a person wanted to obviously pay to have a tree

         24  planted aside from the Mayor, the Borough President,

         25  the City Council funding it? There are programs, I
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          2  believe, for privately funded trees. I believe the

          3  Freedom Tree Program in Queens is possibly one of

          4  them. Can you elaborate on any other programs that

          5  might exist?

          6                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          7  The program you alluded to, the Freedom Tree, was

          8  designed to plant trees as memorials to victims of

          9  the World Trade Center. They planted in park land

         10  and the species they chose are not trees that would

         11  be suitable for street tree planting. They are fine

         12  in parks, but not on the streets. I don't know of

         13  any program that provides money for planting on

         14  streets other than the programs that the City

         15  sponsors. Homeowners, of course, can plant the tree

         16  at their own expense. Our program, the Tree Trust

         17  does have a program called the One- Stop Tree Shop

         18  which makes it easier for someone who wants to do

         19  that to actually execute it within one planting

         20  season. We take care of all the permits. We hire the

         21  contractor. We oversee it. We make sure that

         22  everything is done up to our specifications and that

         23  the tree has a one year guarantee and we enforce the

         24  guarantee provisions. Are we up to two years with

         25  that too? I'm sorry. We're up to two years on that
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          2  too.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you

          4  very much, Commissioner. Madam Chair, thank you very

          5  much.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Council Member

          7  James.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Thank you. Just

          9  a question with regards, whenever there is a

         10  development in the City of New York, is there any

         11  requirement that the developer plant x amount of

         12  trees based on the density of a particular project?

         13                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         14  There are some special zoning districts in several

         15  boroughs. I can't numerate them for you that do

         16  require tree planting as part of the building plans.

         17  I don't think it is a City- wide requirement. I

         18  don't think it applies to every single new

         19  development in the City, however. We can probably

         20  provide you with information on those special

         21  districts.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Yes, I would

         23  like to know that. Just let me thank you for

         24  designating Fort Greene Park as one of your forestry

         25  management plans. As you know, Fort Greene has a
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          2  very high asthma rate. And if you can focus on Fort

          3  Greene with respect to going forward in planting

          4  more trees, that would be greatly appreciated.

          5  Particularly in close proximity to the public

          6  housing, we've got a high rate of asthma near Fort

          7  Greene, Ingersol and Whitman Houses and that would

          8  be greatly appreciated. My last question is, a

          9  significant number of cars and trucks damage trees.

         10  Whose responsibility is it to repair the tree?

         11                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         12  Unfortunately, there is very little you can do to

         13  repair damage to a tree. Once you cut into the

         14  tree's bark or break off a limb, you have caused an

         15  injury that can be a source of disease and infection

         16  entering into the trunk of the tree. You can cut the

         17  limb properly so that you give the tree the best

         18  chance possible to heal itself. But there are no

         19  bandaids or wound dressings or things like that,

         20  that you can provide.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Also, my last

         22  point, what I'm finding in downtown Brooklyn is

         23  because we are having a rodent problem, there is an

         24  abetment program going on. I believe the pesticides

         25  that are being used are damaging a lot of our trees.
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          2  Can I call the Parks Department because I've gotten

          3  some calls with regards to the use of pesticides in

          4  the abetment program and there was a question

          5  whether or not something can be done to save the

          6  trees and whether or not the pesticides that are

          7  being used are harmful to the trees?

          8                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          9  We'd be happy to look into it. I'd be surprised if

         10  rodenticide are having any affect on the tree. We

         11  obviously used them ourselves in our own operations.

         12  We're familiar with many of these products. We'd

         13  happy to assess the products that's being used

         14  there. The way they work, I'd be surprised if they

         15  could have an affect on trees. But you mentioned

         16  Fort Greene and asthma and Fiona has something to

         17  add to that discussion.

         18                 MS. WATT: Well, we're currently

         19  working with the Community Board 2 of Brooklyn.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Yes.

         21                 MS. WATT: To do a tree survey, in

         22  advance of a City- wide survey and volunteers are

         23  using hand helds and taking inventory and marking

         24  other site characteristics, planting opportunities

         25  throughout the whole community board and it's a
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          2  wonderful effort. They started in the late spring

          3  and we hope to finish up this fall and they will

          4  have inventoried over 7,000 trees.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Thank you very

          6  much.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

          8  Council Member Jackson.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you.

         10  Good afternoon. In response to the Chair's question,

         11  you indicated that where a tree pit already exists

         12  is easier to plant it there. But where there

         13  normally is a tree pit, there was a tree. What if

         14  the trunk of the tree is still in the ground? Is it

         15  as easy or I would assume that you would have to

         16  gouge that out. Is that as far as expense wise, is

         17  it easier if there is just a pit there with a tree

         18  stump in there or to plant the new tree?

         19                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         20  It would be easier if there was nothing, no

         21  impediments within the tree pit. But excavating the

         22  entire tree pit is a standard item. Yes, it a little

         23  bit more difficult and little bit more expensive if

         24  you have a big tree stump under there. But it would

         25  not materially impact whether or not we could plant
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          2  the tree.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: But from

          4  expense wise, would be it be cheaper to do that

          5  versus cutting and then putting a new one in the

          6  ground?

          7                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          8  No, it would not be cheaper.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Yes, that's

         10  what I thought. And then we talk about since this

         11  Resolution deals with communities of color, did the

         12  Department of Parks keep records of, for example, in

         13  communities of color. I don't even know if you keep

         14  statistics like that. Do you keep statistics like

         15  that?

         16                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         17  Our statistics are based on community board lines.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Community --

         19                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         20  We are in terms with the community boards and all of

         21  our record keeping, almost of our record keeping I

         22  would say, conforms with community board. So we do

         23  know what the tree level, what the tree population

         24  is in each community board throughout the City.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Is there any
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          2  record, for example, when a new tree is planted,

          3  they are so young and sometimes some of younger

          4  people that do not appreciate trees in their earlier

          5  years will jump on there and rip off a branch and/or

          6  car may run it over or something like that. Do you

          7  keep statistics as to, for example, how many trees

          8  that you planted that are relatively new and that

          9  are destroyed within that young period of time?

         10                 MS. WATT: Yes, we've been tracking

         11  for the last several years about 40,000 of our newly

         12  planted street trees and City- wide, we found about

         13  a 12 percent mortality rate average. There is very

         14  little to compare that with. There are several

         15  studies that come from smaller urban areas across

         16  the country with varying rates, 15, 25, one had 39

         17  percent mortality rate. But these aren't robust

         18  studies. I've never seen a study that tracked 40,000

         19  trees. It's usually a few hundred. I wouldn't say

         20  that's stated and knowledge is that advanced. But we

         21  do know that the last 40,000 trees, we planted, we

         22  lost about 12 percent.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: If you have

         24  any knowledge as to what is the primary reason of

         25  that particular 12 percent loss, like what are the
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          2  one, two and three reasons,  if you don't mind. Go

          3  ahead, I'm sorry.

          4                 MS. WATT: Well, the only reason we

          5  can say for sure is vandalism and that's more than

          6  half.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: More than

          8  half of that 12 percent?

          9                 MS. WATT: Yes, yes.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: That's what I

         11  was really getting at. More than 12 percent. What is

         12  the Department of Parks budget for tree planting?

         13  You may have already answered that prior to my

         14  arrival and if so, I apologize. I was just trying to

         15  take care of some other business.

         16                 MS. WATT: This fiscal year?

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Yes, or the

         18  past two or three fiscal years. Has it increased or

         19  has it decreased?

         20                 MS. WATT: This fiscal year, it's $8.6

         21  million and that's an increase from last fiscal year

         22  which was $4.8 million.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Very good.

         24                 MS. WATT: Previous to that, we

         25  enjoyed five, six, seven years of over $6 million.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I see.

          3                 MS. WATT: So we're back up to where

          4  we were.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I think

          6  that's very good. I do know from my personal

          7  experience, I live in an apartment building and

          8  tenants association, we talked about planting trees

          9  in front of the apartment building. We got

         10  permission from the landlord and I don't know

         11  whether it was DOP or the landlord, they cut the

         12  ground and then subsequently trees were planted.

         13  That happened about two years and they look

         14  beautiful. How does the general public know that

         15  this program is available as far as for an apartment

         16  building if you get the permission of the landlord

         17  and/or private owners? How does the public know

         18  about this particular program?

         19                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         20  That's an excellent question, Council Member

         21  Jackson. I think over the years, we may have become

         22  some complacent. We work with the community boards.

         23  We work directly with elected officials and we may

         24  not have done enough to publicize, one the fact that

         25  the City does plant trees. And two, what the
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          2  benefits of those trees are to people in these

          3  communities. I think when 311, which I think

          4  revolutionized the way people deal with government

          5  is integrated into our tree planting as well as our

          6  website. More and more we are encouraging people to

          7  reach out to us through the website. They can do it

          8  24 hours a day, seven days a week, without any

          9  impediments. We're hoping that those two mechanisms

         10  will bring it to a wider audience and result in more

         11  demand for trees.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Do you have a

         13  tiny little brochure on tree planting and the

         14  availability of that from the Parks Department

         15  program or is there any information on that? The

         16  reason why I'm asking, obviously if we had those we

         17  could hand them out and/or Council members could

         18  take that and look at it and summarize the New York

         19  City Department of Parks tree planting program so we

         20  can put a section in our newsletters. Because each

         21  of us, all 51 of us, send out newsletters at least

         22  twice year to our constituents. Each and every one

         23  of us total is eight million New Yorkers. That's

         24  another way. And since I am a sponsor of this

         25  resolution, I think it's appropriate for me to try
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          2  to put something in my newsletter to just to make, I

          3  guess, homeowners and other people aware that this

          4  program exists. That's one way that I can take a

          5  positive step in my district that I represent. But

          6  I'm curious as to whether or not you have any

          7  brochures specifically on tree planting?

          8                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          9  We do have standard literature describing the tree

         10  planting program and the steps that somebody has to

         11  take in order to participate, as well as the

         12  permission form that we do ask people to sign to

         13  indicate that they acknowledged that they want the

         14  tree in front of their property. We'll be happy to

         15  get that to each of the Council Member offices.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I think that

         17  would be really, really great. At least that's a

         18  step, even though I know that you don't have an

         19  unlimited budget and if every community just jumped

         20  on that, the budget would go like that. Let me just

         21  ask about the tree planting budget. Do you spend

         22  that every single year? Have you maxed out and as

         23  far as within the fiscal year cycle, when have you

         24  maxed out? For example, the first quarter of the

         25  fiscal year, the first half, near the end or what?
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          2                 MS. WATT: Well, tree planting is a

          3  peculiar activity that you can only do twice a year.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: When is that?

          5                 MS. WATT: In the spring and in the

          6  fall within an eight week time period. You have to

          7  plant when the leaves, the trees are dormant after

          8  they lost their leaves in the fall, before they bud

          9  out in the spring. That said, we plant every nickel

         10  that we have, that we get allocated on tree

         11  planting. Most of the time we do that within the

         12  fiscal year that the money is allocated which is not

         13  entirely standard for a capital program. But this is

         14  a program that's fairly easy to plan, to design and

         15  to execute. Sometimes we go over the fiscal year for

         16  a special project or very large projects. But mostly

         17  we get the money and we spend it, we plant the

         18  trees. They're in the ground that same fiscal year.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: You talked

         20  about you keep statistics based on community board

         21  lines. If I ask you, can you give me a breakdown of,

         22  what I think there is 50 community boards?

         23                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         24  Fifty- nine.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Fifty- nine.
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          2  Give me a breakdown as to how many trees were

          3  planted in each community board in order to try to

          4  determine whether or not, for example, whether

          5  Queens got more trees than Manhattan or vice versa.

          6  I guess that type of statistics would be available,

          7  is that correct?

          8                 MS. WATT: Absolutely. We plant trees.

          9  We can even give you that information by census

         10  tracking. You see on the map, we can give you the

         11  information by zip code.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: You can

         13  really?

         14                 MS. WATT: Absolutely.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Wow.

         16                 MS. WATT: That's the wonder of

         17  mapping. Of course, Queens does get more trees than

         18  Manhattan, for example, because it's much larger.

         19                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         20  Add on some more people and people are the ones who

         21  demand the trees. Queens and Brooklyn have

         22  significantly higher single and two family homes and

         23  home owners tend to more interested in trees in

         24  front of their property because they understand the

         25  direct benefit it adds to the value of their
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          2  property. Unfortunately, people who dwell in

          3  apartments don't make that same connection and may

          4  not understand that the benefits go beyond just the

          5  increase in property value and how much it can

          6  impact the entire community. That's sort of the

          7  message that we're trying to get out with our trees

          8  and public health agenda.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I want to

         10  thank all of you for coming in and I think that as a

         11  City we need to do more. Because trees are

         12  beautiful. In fact, my City Council office which is

         13  up near where I live at, I've seen where people have

         14  apartment, window sills and they have these little

         15  planters with flowers growing in them. They look so

         16  beautiful. So I said to Sarah, Sarah is my executive

         17  assistant, Sarah this summer, I want some planters

         18  up in our windows. They're up there with some

         19  foliage growing down. It really looks beautiful.

         20  We've got many, many compliments on that. I think it

         21  just makes our City look so much more beautiful when

         22  its green, plush and flowers and all of the

         23  beautiful things that this earth is about. So, I

         24  want to thank you for what you're doing. Thank you,

         25  Madam Chair.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

          3  Council Member Gallagher.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: Thank you,

          5  Madam Chair. Thank you for your testimony,

          6  Commissioner. I just have a few questions concerning

          7  the tree stump removal. I wanted to know what your

          8  time frame is. Do you have an average time that a

          9  tree stump after it's cut down till the tree stump

         10  is removed? And the reason why I come up with this

         11  question is actually as I was walking in here, there

         12  is a gentlemen who is working outside with the MTA,

         13  pulled me over and he said that he has tried for

         14  months to try to get a tree stump removed including

         15  contacting my office and we notified Parks and

         16  ultimately had to pay himself to get it removed so

         17  that he can have additional work done. So do we have

         18  a time frame, an actual time frame from when a tree

         19  is cut down and the stump is actually removed?

         20                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         21  No, unfortunately I cannot give you an average time

         22  frame for what it takes to remove a stump or how

         23  long it takes to remove stump. We do have a back log

         24  of over 8,000 stumps on the streets of New York. Our

         25  management program is based on two sort of major
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          2  premises. One, we remove dead trees within 30 days

          3  of notification. Because dead trees are clearly a

          4  danger to the public and to property and they are

          5  unpredicted in how they may impact either public or

          6  the property. We have been extremely successful in

          7  meeting that commitment. Over 95 percent of the

          8  time, we remove a dead tree within 90 days.

          9                 The other major component of our

         10  management strategy is the block pruning program

         11  that Chief Watt outlined during her testimony.

         12  Regrettably, focusing on those two components which

         13  are probably the most serious aspects of tree

         14  maintenance, we are not in a position to remove

         15  stumps as expeditiously as either we or the public

         16  would like. We do remove them. We do recognize that

         17  they are a problem. They tend to be more of a

         18  nuisance than an active hazard and while we cannot

         19  commit to a specific time frame, we are determined

         20  to remove them. One of the best ways to get them

         21  removed, is to request a new tree.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: If I can

         23  ask though, if we can get some sort of time table as

         24  to how long they are to be removed. Before Council

         25  Member Jackson, I know has another appointment and
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          2  has to go, I just wanted to point out in defense of

          3  Queens County and the number of street trees that

          4  they have that often Council Member have allocations

          5  in their capital money that are used for street

          6  trees and it's been done in our community by my

          7  predecessor, Council Member Ognibene and myself,

          8  where we prioritize money in the budget for street

          9  trees. I don't think that when we get a count by

         10  community board that we should actually indicate

         11  that. Maybe if you want to get a count of actually

         12  how many was put in by the Parks Department and not

         13  funded under the capital project from a Council

         14  Member, that that might be a better indication.

         15                 Having said that, I'd like to go back

         16  to a question concerning community groups and their

         17  request for street trees. I have a few organizations

         18  within my Council district who as Fiona will surely

         19  know, go out door to door and canvas and look for

         20  areas and come back with locations that they believe

         21  would be excellent sites for the placement of street

         22  trees. Each year, they submit these locations to the

         23  Parks Department. Some of them are existing pits.

         24  Others are not existing pits. It is my understanding

         25  that over the last two years, the Parks Department
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          2  now comes back to them and says that we need

          3  authorization from the homeowner in order to put

          4  these trees in these locations. Is that true?

          5                 MS. WATT: I know of one advocate in

          6  particular who sends us list of hundreds of sites

          7  where the sidewalk hasn't been cut and we've made it

          8  clear for many years now that we need permission

          9  from the property owner to cut the sidewalk.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: Can the

         11  Parks Department, if a community group goes around

         12  and spends (and they are a volunteer organization),

         13  and spends countless hours looking at locations that

         14  would make the community much nicer aesthetically

         15  and much healthier with the new street trees, can

         16  the Parks Department not write a note to that

         17  property owner and ask them if they can have their

         18  permission or authorization? I just think asking a

         19  community group to go and survey and then going out

         20  and trying to track down the property owners, the

         21  Parks Department has resources that if they have an

         22  address that they can send a letter to the

         23  individual saying we are considering putting a new

         24  street tree in front of your location. If you have

         25  any objections, please contact us within 30 days. Is
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          2  that something that you might consider doing?

          3                 MS. WATT: Well, we've done better

          4  that. We've given the permission forms to people who

          5  are interested in doing that. So as they're walking

          6  through the neighborhood, they simply leave the

          7  permission forms behind. However, --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: I think you

          9  misunderstand what I'm saying. I agree with you that

         10  in that case that has been done. Quite frankly, some

         11  of our organizations within our communities, Juniper

         12  Park Civic, Middle Village property owners and Civil

         13  Association, Glendale Taxpayers, do use various

         14  permission slips in trying to get it. We do that by

         15  mail. But in particular in the community of

         16  Ridgewood, there are community individuals that go

         17  out and a lot of cases there is absentee landlords,

         18  there is absent property owners. These locations are

         19  in dire need of street trees. It would really

         20  improve the aesthetic look of Ridgewood and make it

         21  a healthier place.

         22                 Why can't the Parks Department create

         23  an initiative where they write to the property

         24  owner? You have access to, I'm sure the Department

         25  of Finance records or hopefully the Department of
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          2  Finance would be willing to share them with you, and

          3  notify the property owner that we would like to put

          4  a street tree there and if they have any objections,

          5  contact us within 30 days. If we instituted that, I

          6  think it would make it easier for you to put in

          7  street trees all throughout many of the communities

          8  in the City of New York. I think the Parks

          9  Department is better suited to have the resources to

         10  mail and to contact and to alert these individuals.

         11                 MS. WATT: I think it's also, as you

         12  say, a supply and demand issue. We know there is

         13  over 200,000 planting opportunities. We're funded

         14  for approximately 5,000 to 10,000 and most of those

         15  slots have people who are actually asking us for

         16  those trees. It's a constant balance between the

         17  people who are saying, I'd like a tree, I want to

         18  care for it and the request that come in much more

         19  anonymously. It's just a balance that we have to

         20  constantly work with.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: Since I

         22  share the community of Ridgewood with my colleague,

         23  Council Member Diana Reyna, and I've read the local

         24  papers where she is allocated a significant amount

         25  of her own capital resources to Ridgewood and for
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          2  Ridgewood street trees. Suppose that we don't have

          3  the number of empty tree pits and locations within

          4  her councilmanic district, why wouldn't we want to

          5  have a more thorough and more comprehensive list of

          6  locations where we can put street trees where we

          7  have authorization or approval from property owners

          8  or notifications to property owners?

          9                 MS. WATT: The answer is absolutely.

         10  What we've been referring to is the mayoral funds

         11  for the planting program for people who would like

         12  to have a tree. When we get specially allocated

         13  funds for a specific geographical area, we

         14  absolutely go out and give our property request

         15  letters to property owners. We look at all the

         16  possible sites for planting. Not just existing pits

         17  and in the Ridgewood project, we're walking up and

         18  down the streets finding all of the sites. And

         19  asking property owners if they have can a tree. It's

         20  a very different process.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: If my

         22  community organization, in particular, the Ridgewood

         23  property owners and civic association which happens

         24  to cover both my councilmanic and my colleague,

         25  Councilwoman Diana Reyna, were to give you a list of
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          2  all the locations that they have surveyed over the

          3  last year, and they mark which ones are existing

          4  pits which you can do immediately, would the Parks

          5  Department then send a letter to the homeowners

          6  either acknowledging that they have a certain period

          7  of time in which to get back to them if the object

          8  or if they will send a permission form that would be

          9  mandated that they send back? Can I count that the

         10  Parks Department will do that?

         11                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         12  Let me just intervene a little bit on that. I

         13  attended an Arbor Day ceremony in Ridgewood last

         14  year and I must say that the Ridgewood Civic

         15  Association has been remarkedly successful in

         16  creating a tree line community in that particular

         17  area. It's very impressive the work they did. I

         18  would suggest that we could probably do some of what

         19  you're asking. I would ask that the Civic when they

         20  go out and they do their surveys, if they're in

         21  front of the house, I understand the problem with

         22  absentee landlords and reaching the right person.

         23  But if they leave the permission slip at every place

         24  where they have identified, that would be a great

         25  first step. And if we don't hear back directly and
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          2  we'll know who has sent in the permission slips,

          3  then yes, we could follow up with a letter to those

          4  that have not responded. We would not make it an

          5  non- objection. I think to be fair we would have to

          6  have something in writing from the property owner.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: Do you have

          8  to do that where there is an existing pit?

          9                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         10  We still request the permission of the property

         11  owner. It's not a legal requirement. I mean the City

         12  owns the sidewalk.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: It's not a

         14  legal requirement.

         15                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         16  The City owns the sidewalk. We could go and plant

         17  whatever we thought was suitable --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: If we have

         19  a community and civic association that thinks and a

         20  community board by the way that advocates the

         21  placement of street trees at certain locations and

         22  it is not requirement by law for us to get the

         23  permission slip, why don't we try to satisfy the

         24  entire community in beautification and put the

         25  street trees in those locations? Why do we go a step

                                                            54

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  beyond what is required by law?

          3                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          4  Because a young tree to survive needs either the

          5  active assistance of the adjoining property owner or

          6  at least, not the inactive, let me say, interference

          7  with the growth of the tree. Because some people do

          8  not want trees in front of their property.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: Many do.

         10                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         11  Many do. But if you don't, it is not that difficult

         12  to get rid of that tree, unfortunately. We have had

         13  the experience, we have had a lot of sad experience

         14  over the years with planting trees and having them

         15  disappear because someone did not want the tree.

         16  It's a waste of tax payers money.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: Mr.

         18  Kavanagh, with all due respect, throughout the City

         19  of New York, we have many locations where we have

         20  had trouble maintaining parks because there has been

         21  vandalism. We don't stop renovating parks because

         22  there is vandalism. If a street tree enhances the

         23  quality of life for the people in the community and

         24  there is a good location for us to put a street

         25  tree, we should not worry whether or not somebody is
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          2  going to try to break the law and vandalism the

          3  tree. If so, then we have to some sort of mechanism

          4  to get the police involved or the Parks enforcement

          5  police. I don't think that City government should be

          6  not putting up trees in locations and I think are

          7  desirable by the community because of fear that

          8  people may damage those trees. I would not cower to

          9  vandalism if I were the Parks Department in the City

         10  of New York.

         11                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH: I

         12  don't think we're cowering to vandalism. We have an

         13  extensive waiting list of people who want trees. I

         14  think we should we satisfy those people first before

         15  we start putting them in front of people's houses

         16  who do not want trees.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: Okay. I

         18  respectfully request for the community of Ridgewood

         19  that you at least take the step of mailing to the

         20  property owners. It would certainly be appreciated

         21  and I don't want to act as if I'm not appreciative

         22  for all that you've done. You've been very

         23  responsive throughout the 30th council district with

         24  many of the tree requests that I have and in most

         25  cases, I do give you copies of authorizations from
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          2  the property owners. I do appreciate it. I just

          3  think that we could probably set the system in a way

          4  that will be more effective and more efficient and

          5  give us more opportunities. I intend to try to put

          6  more capital money in for new street trees. I hope

          7  that when I do so if I give locations that I think

          8  that would be an added benefit and attractive within

          9  my Councilmatic district that you wouldn't require

         10  the homeowner's approval since it's not required by

         11  law. Thank you, Mr. Kavanagh, for your testimony. I

         12  appreciate it very much. Thank you, Ms. Watt.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

         14  Council Member Dilan is going to vote for the

         15  record.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: Madam Chair, I

         17  vote aye on Res. 512 which is before the committee

         18  today.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you. Thank

         20  you very much for testifying. Our next panel will be

         21  Susan Gooberman of Trees New York; Herman Lowenhar

         22  and Allison Farina, New Yorkers for Parks. Thank

         23  you. You can start from left to right or right to

         24  left, whichever works. Press the light off if it's

         25  on.
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          2                 MS. GOOBERMAN: Hi, my name is Susan

          3  Gooberman. I'm the Education Director of Trees New

          4  York. Trees New York is a small non-profit that

          5  teaches people how to care for their trees. We

          6  promote community activism and all tree-related

          7  issues. We are certainly advocates of trees and I

          8  want to thank you, Chairperson Foster, and the rest

          9  of the Parks Committee for being so involved in tree

         10  planting. It's delightful to see.

         11                 Naturally, I'm here to support

         12  Resolution 512, to plant more trees across the City

         13  and communities that have low canopy cover. As

         14  Thomas Curry, the Counsel to the Committee, stated

         15  in his extensive report, trees improve air quality

         16  by capturing small particulate matter that can be

         17  harmful to the health of New Yorkers. Planting trees

         18  is an effective way to mitigate pollution caused

         19  health problems such as asthma. Areas including

         20  Hunts Point and other locations in the Bronx,

         21  Brooklyn and Queens, as well as up- town and

         22  downtown Manhattan, will also benefit from increased

         23  tree planting.

         24                 However, adequate funds are needed to

         25  plant these trees. I believe that you touched on
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          2  that, more than touched on that, in the last couple

          3  of minutes. We urge the Council to appropriate more

          4  funds to the Department of Parks and Recreation for

          5  tree planting across the entire City and

          6  specifically to show special consideration for those

          7  areas with the lowest canopy cover. One other thing,

          8  Trees New York sponsors, of course, every fall and

          9  spring for people who are interested in trees which

         10  this course leads to certification by the Department

         11  of Parks and Recreation to take care of the small

         12  unprunable trees in the way the Parks Department

         13  prunes trees as Fiona Watt was talking about.

         14                 We teach people to take care of the

         15  newly planted street trees that have not attained

         16  the size to be prunable by the Parks Department

         17  personnel. We encourage volunteers who are also

         18  community activists to get involved in tree

         19  planting, tree pruning and tree maintenance. Thank

         20  you very much for your interest in the area of trees

         21  in the City.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

         23                 MS. FARINA: Good afternoon. My name

         24  is Allison Farina. I'm the Director of Government

         25  Affairs for New Yorkers for Parks, a City- wide
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          2  advocacy organization working to protect and

          3  promote, tirelessly working to protect and promote

          4  the City's more than 28,000 acres of parkland.

          5                 I'm here today to testify in support

          6  of Res. 512, calling for additional tree planting in

          7  communities of color, low- income communities and

          8  communities with high rates of asthma. I'm also here

          9  to call for additional maintenance support for our

         10  existing and future tree canopy. As has been

         11  mentioned before and throughout the afternoon here,

         12  street and park trees are essential part of our

         13  urban environment and have numerous benefits. They

         14  provide shade in the summer and cool and beautify

         15  our City. They absorb pollution, improve air quality

         16  and combat chronic respiratory diseases such as

         17  asthma. As such, we must choose to plant trees where

         18  they are needed the most. New Yorkers for Parks

         19  commends Council Member Foster's resolution that

         20  promotes the planting of trees in high need

         21  neighborhoods. If enacted, this legislation will

         22  direct resources where they are most needed and

         23  promote a City- wide standard of tree canopy

         24  coverage.

         25                 Now while it's important that more
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          2  trees are planted, it is also imperative that New

          3  York City provide sufficient maintenance for the

          4  trees that currently line our streets and parks.

          5  Trees are a top priority for the people of New York.

          6  As highlighted in the recently released 2004 Mayor's

          7  Management Report, inquiries regarding tree pruning

          8  were the most frequently received Parks related

          9  calls to 311 last year.

         10                 Community boards emphasize tree care

         11  in their Community District Needs statement as well.

         12  A quote from the Queens CB 2, that's the Long Island

         13  City Neighborhoods, Woodside, Sunnyside, Blissvile

         14  and Sunnyside Gardens, in their fiscal year 2005

         15  statement could not be more revealing of this. They

         16  said: "through the years, we found that requests to

         17  address diseased trees, pruning of existing trees

         18  and removal of dead trees are severely backlogged.

         19  This is due to the continuous budget cuts. Personnel

         20  levels must be increased to address the needs of the

         21  City's large number of trees in our community."

         22                 The continual decline in Parks

         23  skilled workforce has severely impacted the agency's

         24  ability to maintain these City's trees. In 2004,

         25  there were only 38 climber/pruners and three
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          2  foresters employed by the Department of Parks and

          3  Recreation. In a City with approximately 500,000

          4  street trees and 28,800 acres of parkland, each

          5  climber/pruner is responsible for over 13,000 street

          6  trees and over 750 acres of parkland. These numbers

          7  are alarming.

          8                 Moreover, with current funding levels

          9  there is effectively, we heard today, ten year, (we

         10  have the number 12 year) pruning cycle in the

         11  Department. Street tree pruning is perpetually on

         12  the chopping block in the budget. In both fiscal

         13  year '04 and '05, funding for this essential program

         14  was threatened and only restored in the last minute

         15  by the Council, thanks to your efforts. We call on

         16  the Council not only to support this resolution so

         17  it may become an Intro., but also to fund these

         18  important objectives. Without proper care,

         19  additional trees will only fall into disrepair and

         20  endanger communities rather than enhance their

         21  quality of life. There is little logic in planting

         22  so many trees if we do not tend to them properly

         23  once they are in the ground.

         24                 New Yorkers for Parks supports Res.

         25  512. Trees will critically improve the public health
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          2  and environment of New York City's most in need

          3  communities; but these additional trees must be

          4  supported with adequate maintenance. Thank you very

          5  much.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you. Ms.

          7  Gooberman, do you work just in Manhattan or?

          8                 MS. GOOBERMAN: No, we work in all

          9  five boroughs. The Citizen Pruner Tree Care Course

         10  is given in all five boroughs in the spring and the

         11  fall of each year.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: I know that in my

         13  council district, we've put together a committee,

         14  Friends of the Parks, where people are going around

         15  saying what their parks need and assuming

         16  responsibility. And one aspect we're looking to do

         17  is tree pits. Because I have tons of tree pits where

         18  trees could be planted understanding that there

         19  needs to be community involvement in protecting and

         20  taking care of the tree. I was saying to Council

         21  Member Gallagher, it's interesting how needs for

         22  districts differ. Where his need is to have these

         23  trees and he has obviously people that are involved

         24  and want the trees and in my district, if we could

         25  just get a tree, that would be great. Do you go out

                                                            63

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  and assist communities on what they need to do once

          3  they get trees?

          4                 MS. GOOBERMAN: Yes.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Protecting it.

          6                 MS. GOOBERMAN: That's exactly what we

          7  do. We teach tree maintenance for young trees. We

          8  also try to encourage people to tally their empty

          9  tree pits and to fill in these tree pits request

         10  forms which have been filed with their community

         11  board and the Parks Department. We try to get as

         12  many trees out on the street as possible through the

         13  interest of citizens of those communities. I've also

         14  worked with the New York Tree Trust in a three year

         15  program which ended in 2002, which involved quite a

         16  number of young people and after school programs.

         17                 We actually got something like 700

         18  trees on the streets through a bare root planting

         19  program. Which was in addition to the Parks

         20  Department census of their trees that they put on

         21  the streets in those years, which was really nice.

         22  Because it also involved the kids and the actual

         23  planting and maintenance of these trees. Bare root

         24  trees are much less expensive than the bought and

         25  burlap trees which is the standard Parks Department
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          2  planting method.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

          4  much.

          5                 MS. GOOBERMAN: Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: As always, thank

          7  you Allison. Mr. Lowenhar, I called you and you

          8  missed your name. Come on up. Well, I still called

          9  you and you still missed your name. Please come. We

         10  want to hear what you have to say. Press the light.

         11                 MR. LOWENHAR: Chairperson Foster, my

         12  name is Herman Lowenhar. I notice some few years ago

         13  what apparently was the new, let's say an invasive

         14  species that seemed to perk up everywhere and big

         15  elephant ear leaves you cannot possibly mistake

         16  this. I had no idea what it was. Obviously, it was

         17  aggressively spreading. A few months ago, I

         18  encountered a young man who told me he was doing

         19  forestry in Westchester and they were clearing out a

         20  park and he said, baley (sic) of the thing was to

         21  clear this stuff out. This is called the Japanese

         22  Knotweed. I have a bulletin which I think was sent

         23  initially to, or was rather from Mr. Curry to Gary

         24  Altman. And it's a Forestry Service, USDA Forestry

         25  Service, and it describes it as follows:  It says,
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          2  key words, invasive species, pest, pest alert. It

          3  says it's native to Eastern Asia. At first it

          4  appears on volcano slopes after activity, seeds and

          5  live resins. These resins are something like a

          6  strawberry will spread on the ground or underground

          7  and it pops up. It says this thing will punch

          8  through two inches of asphalt.

          9                 When I heard this, I noticed, I'm in

         10  Brooklyn, that all along Franklin Avenue, you see

         11  these things everywhere. There is a garden, the

         12  community garden, at Franklin and Green Avenue and

         13  it has not a weed. This things looks larger than a

         14  large maple. The leaves are similar to these. I

         15  called the Forestry Service in Brooklyn and I was

         16  told they are aware of this thing. Of course, they

         17  can't go on private property to extirpate it, but

         18  they can go into City owned lots. Here is an

         19  instance which a City owned lot is turned into a

         20  community park and the grandmother of all of these

         21  trees stands on.

         22                 I'll give you the description. Chest

         23  height, it is 18 inches in diameter. I've got a nine

         24  inch hand, so I can measure it accurately. About 30

         25  feet high, 40 foot diameter branch tip to tip. Just
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          2  yesterday, I stopped my car and tried to do a little

          3  survey of the thing. These things reproduce as I

          4  said by resins but more commonly, they reproduce by

          5  seed pods. I've got a couple of seed pods here. You

          6  can see them. These appear on the tips of the

          7  branches in large numbers. You couldn't count all of

          8  it but I divided the tree into the quadrants and I

          9  counted roughly 100 clusters of pods per quadrant.

         10  So in other words, there would be roughly 400

         11  clusters. Each cluster is about 30 of these. Thirty

         12  of these. What is inside these? May I come forward?

         13  Or I can bring forward. I don't know how many there

         14  are. I would certainly say we're talking about a

         15  1,000 at least.

         16                 Every one of those is potentially a

         17  tree. If you multiply 400 times 30, you've got

         18  12,000 pods in a tree and roughly a 1,000 per pod,

         19  that tree spreads 12 million seeds a year. It's

         20  making a relentless march across Brooklyn. You see

         21  it in New Jersey. There is no way to mistake that

         22  this is -- the only thing looking anything like this

         23  is a Japanese Knotweed. I was surprised. I spoke

         24  briefly to the Commissioner and he was startled to

         25  hear that this thing could reach the dimensions I
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          2  described. He says, no it's a weed. But indeed,

          3  given since it has no natural enemies and it's

          4  perfectly happy to populate Brooklyn or Queens,

          5  Staten Island, Jersey, Manhattan, wherever you find

          6  a vacant lot. All through Brooklyn, you'll see these

          7  virtually in every vacant lot, you see one of these

          8  things. Some has reached quite a size. They're not

          9  little shrubs. They grow to look just like a tree.

         10  They grow very fast. A tree that size would be maybe

         11  a 30 year old tree in a normal wooded species, but

         12  this is a pith. It is kind of hollow, pithy. That

         13  grow could get to that size in six or seven years.

         14                 At the very least, I think the Parks

         15  Department should publicize the existence of this

         16  species and make some effort to tell people, yes,

         17  it's nice when it grows. You have a nice big tree in

         18  no time, but on the other hand, it's like the

         19  invasion of the body snatchers. This thing is going

         20  to take over the territory because it's very

         21  difficult to kill. This young man told me and the

         22  book mentions this, that if you chop it up and a

         23  piece happens to get into a stream, or whatever it

         24  lands, it takes root. A tiny piece that roots. As

         25  you see, the seeds are, maybe a 1,000 is too few.
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          2  It's an enormous number of seeds.

          3                 This is not like an acorn that simply

          4  drops or a squirrel carries it a hundred feet or

          5  away and plants it. The breeze carries these things

          6  miles. I think it would be important that the Parks

          7  Department have a pest alert the same way you have

          8  an alert with the longhorn beetle. An invasion of

          9  species like these takes over the territory pretty

         10  quickly. There is no light that gets underneath

         11  this. It kills whatever underneath it.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Right.

         13                 MR. LOWENHAR: Nothing gets through

         14  this.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         16  much, Mr. Lowenhar. If you could just wrap up for

         17  us, please.

         18                 MR. LOWENHAR: I don't know exactly

         19  how that is done, but it would be important for the

         20  Parks Department to take aggressive action against

         21  this species. First, would be to notify the public

         22  and make them aware of the fact that this is a pest

         23  plant; that the Department of Agriculture is very

         24  concerned about it spreading in northeast and that

         25  if they see any leaves in the backyard or empty
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          2  lots, they should dig it up, kill it, preferably

          3  burn it. Because if you just chop it up, it will

          4  grow again. Then to the extent that they do have the

          5  manpower to do it, where the City owns a lot. If

          6  it's empty, chances are there is one of these things

          7  sometimes in quite larger sizes that there should be

          8  an effort on the Parks Department to go into those

          9  lots where they have authority and root it out.

         10  Otherwise, the way this thing is proliferating,

         11  we're facing dissemination of our native species.

         12  Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you. And we

         14  will make sure that your concerns get to the Parks

         15  Department even though you spoke to Mr. Kavanagh.

         16  Thank you very much.

         17                 MR. LOWENHAR: Well, he wasn't quite

         18  aware of what size these things can grow go to.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Very good. Now we

         20  know. Thank you very much.

         21                 MR. LOWENHAR: You're welcome.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Having no other

         23  testimony, this meeting is adjourned. Thank you.

         24                 (Meeting adjourned at 2:35 p.m.)
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